IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MICHAEL LATAVIN SMITH

JUN 15 2007

APPELLANT

VERSUS

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

NO. 2006-KA-01946-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GEORGE COUNTY
HONORABLE ROBERT P. KREBS, CIRCUIT JUDGE

BERNARD GAUTIER
Attorney for Appellant
704 Live Oak Avenue
Pascagoula, MS 39567-3110
Telephone: (228) 769-8009

Facsimile: (228) 769-8070

Mississippi State Bar No.

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the admissions or confession of Smith were properly admitted despite failure to timely provide an initial appearance, failure to provide counsel, and inability of Smith to understand his rights and understand and agree to waivers.

Issue II Whether Smith was denied his guaranteed rights to a speedy trial where continuances were granted without good cause and appointed attorneys forfeited his right without his knowledge or agreement.

Issue III Whether the court committed an abuse of discretion when it denied Smith's motion for a sequestered voir dire on the limited issues of race and intimate interracial relationships.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

This is an appeal from a conviction of murder and a sentence of Life in the Mississippi Department of Corrections that was imposed, after a jury trial, by the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial District in George County at the June 2006 Term thereof (CP. 241, 246, RE. 4, 5).

The January 2004 Grand Jury, recalled 13 October 2004, returned an indictment against Defendant/Appellant here, Michael Latavin Smith (Smith), charging that he "on or about August 11, 2004, did willfully, feloniously and without the authority of law kill and murder Joanna M. Eubanks, a human being, with deliberate design to effect the death of Joanna M. Eubanks" (CP. 4, RE. 13).

Smith was served with his Capias on 19 October 2004 (CP. 6). On 1 November 2004 he was arraigned and entered a plea of Not Guilty (T. 9, CP. 7, RE. 37). He had been incarcerated in the George County jail since 12 August 2004 at which time he had turned himself in (T. 449-50).

He had been interrogated regarding this charge on 12 August 2004 and again on 17 August 2004 as his case was further investigated by law enforcement officers. Prior to his arraignment on 1 November 2004 he had not seen an attorney (T. 7). At that time Honorable Sidney Barnett was appointed to stand with him for "only arraignment" (T. 9, CP. 7, RE. 37).

Considerable time passed principally due to continuance orders granted without good cause or the knowledge of Smith (to be examined in Issue II of this Brief for Appellant) before he was finally put to trial on 26 June 2006.

Smith asserted his constitutional and statutory right to a speedy trial by motion filed 27 April 2005 (CP. 23-26, at 24; RE. 21-24, at 22).

On 21 June 2006 a specific Motion to Suppress was filed regarding statements made by Smith (CP. 194-96, RE. 18-20). A hearing on the Motion to Suppress was held on 26 June 2006 (T. 107-85). The motion was denied (T. 184-85, RE. 7-8).

On 12 June 2006 a Motion to Dismiss for State's Failure to Afford a Speedy Trial was filed (CP. 184-87, RE. 25-28). A hearing on this motion was had on 15 June 2006 (T. 67-87) and the same was denied (T. 86-87, RE. 9-10).

On 12 April 2006 a Motion for Individual Sequestered Voir Dire on Juror Attitudes
Toward Race and Intimate Interracial Relationships was filed (CP. 167-70, RE. 29-32). A
hearing on this motion was had on 15 June 2006 (T. 87-93) and the motion was denied (T. 92-93,
RE. 11-12).

The issues raised by all of these motions are each preserved in Smith's Motion for New Trial, Or, In the Alternative, a J.N.O.V., filed 7 July 2006 (CP. 248-51, RE. 14-17). This motion was argued 15 September 2006 (T. 611-39) and denied (T. 636-39, CP. 306, RE. 6).

Present counsel was appointed to pursue this appeal by Order of 7 December 2006 (CP. 312).

Facts Relevant to the Issues

Smith was indicted for the deliberate-design murder of Joanna M. Eubanks (Eubanks). At the time of the killing he was approximately 20 years of age and she was 19 (T. 111, 364). Smith was an African-American or black. Eubanks was white (T. 111, 354), with "blonde hair, blue eyes" according to the district attorney in his opening statement to the jury (T. 336). They were lovers and had been for several months. The shooting took place in the trailer where Smith lived and where Eubanks had come to visit him. The purpose of her visit is disputed.

What is not disputed is that no one else observed what went on in that trailer and that when the bullet that killed her was fired the gun was held by Smith and was aimed by him at Eubanks' head. The bullet struck her just below the nose (T. 425, 458).

Smith panicked, ran to an adjacent trailer where relatives lived, sobbing, beating his head, saying it was an accident (T. 374-75, 382). The next day, 12 August 2004, he turned himself in to the sheriff's office (T. 113, 449-50). He was interrogated four or five times before seeing an attorney.

At all times he has insisted that the shooting was an accident (T. 374, 391, 393, 453). This was the primary theory of his defense. His story as to how the accident occurred changed with repeated interrogation by law enforcement officers, from a claim that the gun had fired while he was cleaning it to it had fired while engaged in a sort of Russian roulette in which he clicked once while aiming at himself and a second time discharging the bullet that killed Eubanks.

Other than raising a question and offering an ambiguous answer as to the distance from the gun to Eubanks' face there was no scientific evidence that even tended to disprove Smith's second explanation.

The State offered the testimony of Eubanks' mother, Ann Eubanks, that on the morning of the shooting, 11 August 2004, her daughter had told her that she was going to break off her relationship with Smith that day (T. 367-68). This testimony provided the prosecution with its theory of the case: "If I can't have you, no one can" (T. 336, 342).

At the close of the evidence the jury was instructed on the elements of accident (CP. 198, 215), manslaughter (CP. 214), and both deliberate-design murder and depraved-heart murder (CP. 206-07).

Smith filed a Motion to Suppress his statements (CP. 194-96, RE. 18-20). He was interrogated for approximately 2½ hours on 12 August 2004, one day after the shooting (T. 452). This session produced approximately 15 minutes of tape. He was questioned again on the 13th of August, and again on the 17th of August for 1 hour and 46 minutes. On each occasion he gave statements that were introduced into evidence by the State (see FtNt 1 on page 9 of this Brief). The 17 August statement contained was undoubtedly the most serious and incriminating admission by Smith.

In all of this time from 12 August 2004 until 18 August 2004 he had not seen an attorney nor had he had an initial appearance. He urges here that the State's behavior denied him right to counsel, that he did not understand his rights as he was not capable of understanding them, and that he could not knowingly and intelligently waive them.

His mother testified to his intellectual limitations (T. 163-75). He finished only the 5th grade, repeating several grades. He had been treated with behavior-modifying drugs most of that time.

The motion to suppress was denied (T. 184-85, RE. 7-8). These matters are argued in Issue I of this Brief.

Smith filed a Motion to Dismiss for State's Failure to Afford a Speedy Trial (CP. 184-87, RE. 25-28). Much earlier he had filed a motion demanding a speedy trial (CP. 24, RE. 22). Some 683 days passed from his arrest to his trial date of 26 June 2006. Smith argues that continuances were granted without good cause; that he was in no way responsible for frequent substitution of his appointed counsel nor for the court's failure to take steps to remedy that situation; that he at no time sought or agreed to any continuance prior to the 18 April 2006 motion (CP. 276-78, RE. 56-58); and that again he was incapable of making a knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver and made none. Accordingly, his constitutional and statutory rights were violated by the delay. This argument is Issue II of this Brief.

Smith filed a Motion for Individual Sequestered Voir Dire on Juror Attitudes Toward Race and Intimate Interracial Relationships (CP. 167-70, RE. 29-32). His motion included a partial list of questions that should be asked of the potential jurors while sequestered, arguing that only in that manner could candid and full answers be obtained and Smith's rights to informed challenges and a fair trial be preserved.

After argument of counsel (T. 87-92) the court denied the motion (T. 92-93, RE. 11-12). In the course of the trial and voir dire there were several matters spoken either to the jury or by members of the panel which supplement the already serious doubt regarding the court's wisdom in denying this motion. The matter is argued in Issue III of this Brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I Whether the admissions or confession of Smith were properly admitted despite failure to timely provide an initial appearance, failure to provide counsel, and inability of Smith to understand his rights and understand and agree to waivers.

Michael Latavin Smith was arrested on 12 August 2004 for a killing that had occurred on 11 August 2004. On the night of 12 August, a Thursday, he was questioned extensively regarding the killing. The following day he was questioned further. He gave statements claiming that the weapon had fired accidentally while he was cleaning it. The following Tuesday, 17 August 2004, he was again interrogated. He changed his story to a far more incriminating one and included the admission "she begged me not to do it." He had an initial appearance the next day, 18 August 2004.

The State had failed to provide him with a timely initial appearance and had failed to provide him with counsel during this entire 6-day period of his incarceration.

His confession was not voluntarily, intelligently, and knowingly given. It was a result of his extended interrogation, the absence of counsel or advice of independent judicial officer, and his limited intellectual capacity and lack of understanding. For the same reasons his waivers of rights were of no effect; they were unconstitutionally obtained.

The trial court's denial of his motion to suppress was an abuse of discretion.

Issue II Whether Smith was denied his guaranteed rights to a speedy trial where continuances were granted without good cause and appointed attorneys forfeited his right without his knowledge or agreement.

Smith was arrested on 12 August 2004. He was tried on 26 June 2006. Attorneys were first appointed for him in January 2005. Numerous changes of attorneys were made and continuances were granted.

Smith never had any difficulty with his attorneys. He never requested that any attorney be discharged. He was in no way responsible for the changes in appointed counsel. He was in no way responsible for the various personal reasons presented by his attorneys when seeking continuances.

Continuances were granted without good cause.

Smith never requested a continuance until the continuance from a 1 May 2006 trial setting to a 26 June 2006 trial setting. His signature does not appear on any request or order. The record does not show that he was present in court when any continuance was requested or granted.

His constitutional rights were violated when he was not granted a speedy trial. These rights could not be given away without his knowing and intelligent agreement to do so. They could not be forfeited by his counsel acting without his agreement.

Smith lacked the educational and intellectual capacity to waive his rights without special attention and explanation that he never received.

The court in denying his motion abused its discretion.

Issue III Whether the court committed an abuse of discretion when it denied Smith's motion for a sequestered voir dire on the limited issues of race and intimate interracial relationships.

Smith was a 20-year-old black male accused of killing a 19-year-old white female with whom he had been having an intimate romantic and sexual relationship for some months.

Trial counsel sought a sequestered voir dire of the panel limited to the issues raised by this racial/sexual situation.

The court announced that it was "cognizant of the nature of the case and that there are emotions on both sides." Nonetheless its response to Smith's motion was: "What can you show me that says that people will be more truthful privately than in a group?" It denied the motion.

Smith argues that questioning on these matters would, as it did, lead almost nowhere; that only in a sequestered voir dire could be have successfully discovered the true nature of attitudes and antipathies of the panelists to allow him to intelligently exercise his strikes.

Smith did not get a fairly chosen jury. He did not get a fair trial.

The court's denial of his motion was an abuse of discretion.

ARGUMENT

Introduction

This appeal challenges three separate rulings of the trial court. Each one followed a motion hearing, thus in each the Judge was the trier of fact. The issue presented in each situation is highly fact-specific.

The rulings were that Smith's motion to suppress his statements is denied; Smith's motion to dismiss for failure to provide a speedy trial is denied; and Smith's motion for a sequestered voir dire on the limited issue of race and intimate interracial relationships is denied.

All three of these rulings were challenged again in Smith's motion for a new trial. The motion for a new trial was, of course, denied.

Smith argues here that in each instance the court's ruling was an abuse of discretion. It was manifestly wrong. Each of these rulings by the trial court should result in a reversal. *Abram* v. *State*, 606 So. 2d 1015 (Miss.1992); *Sanders v. State*, 835 So. 45, 50 (¶ 15) (Miss.2003) citing *Hunt v. State*, 687 So.2d 1154, 1160 (Miss.1996).

Issue I Whether the admissions or confession of Smith were properly admitted despite failure to timely provide an initial appearance, failure to provide counsel, and inability of Smith to understand his rights and understand and agree to waivers.

The appellant Smith was arrested on 12 August 2004 when he turned himself in. The shooting had occurred on 11 August 2004.

On the evening of 12 August 2004 law enforcement officials took two statements from Smith. He was interrogated for 1 hour and 1 minute that evening regarding this crime, after which a 9-minute tape was made of what he had to say. He was then allowed to listen to that tape, was questioned again for 1 hour and 17 minutes and then recorded what was referred to as his second statement lasting 6 minutes. Both of the recorded sessions were in the form of interrogations. Thus, a total of 2 hours and 33 minutes of interrogation that evening resulted in taped conversations totaling 15 minutes.

At Smith's suggestion the officers accompanied him to the scene the next morning, 13 August, where Smith again gave incriminating statements (T. 462-63).

On 17 August the officers initiated another interrogation, which lasted a full 1 hour and 46 minutes and resulted in a tape of 13 minutes' duration at the end of the interrogation.

These tapes were later transcribed and both the tapes and the transcriptions were introduced in evidence at the trial.¹

In the 12 August statements Smith claimed that the shooting was an accident. On 17 August he first stated that it happened while they were playing what we might call Russian

¹ State Exhibit 12 (8-12-04 Audiotape); State Exhibit 11 (Transcript of "first" 8-12-04 interview); State Exhibit 10 (Transcript of "second" 8-12-04 interview); State Exhibit 13 (8-17-04 Audiotape); State Exhibit 9 (Transcript of 8-17-04 interview).

roulette. He had first pulled the trigger with the gun pointed to his own head. The second time, with the gun now aimed at Eubanks, it fired. In this last or 17 August statement the damning admission "she [inaudible] not to shoot" (State Exhibit 9 to trial) or "then she was (inaudible) me not to shoot" (Defense Exhibit 1 to 6-26-06 suppression hearing) appears for the first and only time. In testimony at trial Investigator John Keel fills it in: "She begged him not to do it" (T. 469).

Due to poor recording quality of the tape and of the equipment used by both the State and Appellant to play back the tape the phrase "begged me" was not rendered audible until first played at the trial, outside the presence of the jury.

Smith was not taken before a magistrate nor did he see an attorney until 18 August 2004, six days after his arrest and one day after the law enforcement officers were finally satisfied with his statement.

It is the contention of Smith here that his constitutional rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and under Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution were violated when statements were taken from him and later used in evidence against him following ineffective waivers of his *Miranda* rights. The waivers were ineffective because they were not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given.

Smith also contends that his incriminating statements should not have been admitted in evidence for the further reason that they were taken in violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment and also guaranteed by Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

On 12 August 2004 at approximately 8:55 p.m. Investigator Keel and Chief Deputy J. D. Mitchell met Smith at the Lucedale County Courthouse (T. 113). This is the same time shown on

the *Miranda* warning (State Exhibit 1 to hearing, State Exhibit 18 to trial). The form was filled out entirely by Keel (T. 114). Smith's name appears in the two appropriate places on the form where he was told to sign. It is not a cursive signature. It is printed.

The interrogation started at approximately 8:55 p.m. No simultaneous record was made of what was said or done until 9:57 p.m., an hour later, when the first taped statement begins. It concludes at 10:06 p.m. according to the tape transcript (State Exhibit 3 to hearing, State Exhibit 11 to trial).

Smith was allowed to listen to what was on the tape, and after another 1 hour and 17 minutes of unrecorded interrogation the tape recorder was again turned on and a second statement was taped lasting 6 minutes and ending finally at 11:29 p.m. See the transcript of the tape for these times (State Exhibit 4 to hearing, State Exhibit 10 to trial). There is no *Miranda* form to accompany this second statement but Keel testified that Smith's rights were again read to him before this statement was taken.

At the outset of the testimony regarding the first 12 August statement, Keel says that Smith had "surrendered himself" (T. 113) on 12 August or he was "taken into custody" (T. 113) and that he had some outstanding warrants. Thereupon the next 2 hours and 33 minutes were spent questioning Smith regarding the killing of Eubanks. Smith, in his 17 August statement passim, makes it clear that he turned himself in because of the shooting of Eubanks.

The next day, 13 August, five law enforcement officers investigated this shooting, searching the mobile home where it took place and then, with two other officers assisting, Smith was transported to the scene and once again interrogated. Keel's Supplemental Report, from which this account is taken, states that he "verbally advised" Smith of his *Miranda* rights

(T. 122, 462) and that Smith then made further statements describing and demonstrating what had happened (State Exhibit 5 to hearing).

The report is entirely centered on Smith's possible guilt of the murder charge. There is no mention of any investigation or even suspicion directed elsewhere. There is also no mention of any concern with the "outstanding warrants" Keel was to mention during the trial (T. 113).

Four days later on 17 August 2004 Smith again printed his name on a *Miranda* warning form (State Exhibit 6 to hearing, State Exhibit 24 to trial) and was again interrogated (State Exhibit 8 to hearing, State Exhibit 9 to trial).

The transcript of the tape recording of Smith's statement made on 17 August 2004 shows that it ran for 13 minutes, from 2:49 p.m. until 3:02 p.m. (State Exhibit 9 to trial). However, Keel testified that the interview itself began at 1:16 p.m. and lasted without interruption until the recording began at 2:49. Thus 1 hour and 33 minutes was spent preparing Smith for his 13-minute statement (T, 156).

Keel was the only law enforcement officer to testify regarding any of Smith's statements and he was the sole interrogator, although Mitchell was a second witness on both of the *Miranda* warning forms and was present during the questioning.

Keel read Smith the Waiver of Rights form (T. 133).² Smith was not asked to read them himself. He did not have a copy of the document in front of him at that time (T. 134).

² We have been referring to this as the *Miranda* form. It is a one-page document labeled at the top: George County Sheriff's Department, Miranda Warning, (Your Rights). The bottom third of the page is subtitled Waiver of Rights.

Reading the rights from the document itself was Keel's standard practice (T. 134). He read them verbatim and never explained anything to Smith (T. 136). He assumed that Smith understood based on the general conversation and on Smith's "yes, sir" answer to the question, "do you understand." Keel made no further inquiry of Smith regarding the rights or his waiver although he acknowledged that Smith's printed (not cursive) signature "could raise a little bit" of suspicion regarding his education or mental abilities (T. 135).

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