MICHAEL LATAVIN SMITH

FILED

AUG 1 0 2007

APPELLANT

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-1946-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Smith claims that his confessions should have been suppressed because they were involuntary. This assertion is simply contrary to the evidence. Smith was read his Miranda rights and signed a waiver. Smith never asserted his right to remain silent, nor his right to an attorney. He stated during the taped interviews that he understood his rights, and that no one had threatened him or promised him anything in exchange for his statements. Officer Keel, who conducted the interviews, also testified that Smith had not been threatened or made any promises. After considering the totality of the circumstances, the trial court correctly found that Smith's statements were voluntary and admissible.

Smith was not denied his statutory nor constitutional right to a speedy trial. The statutory speedy trial analysis allows any delays caused by the defendant to be subtracted from the number of days between arraignment and trial. Smith moved for and was granted seven continuances which account for 518 of the 604 days between arraignment and trial. Accordingly, for purposes of the analysis, Smith was tried well within the 270 time limit. Regarding his constitutional speedy trial claim, Smith fails to articulate any prejudice caused by the delay, rendering his claim wholly meritless.

Finally, the decision to allow sequestered voir dire is solely within the discretion of the trial court. Although the court denied Smith's motion for a sequestered voir dire, it allowed a reasonable alternative. Furthermore, Smith again failed to show actual harm or prejudice, which is required in order to disturb the trial court's decision to deny a sequestered voir dire.

ARGUMENT

I. SMITH'S CONFESSIONS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED.

On appeal Smith claims that his confessions were involuntary, and therefore inadmissible,

because he did not understand his rights and because he was denied counsel.

A trial court's denial of a motion to suppress the defendant's confession will be disturbed only when the ruling is manifestly in error or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. McGowan v. State, 706 So.2d 231, 235 (¶11) (Miss. 1997). A confession is admissible when knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently given, and not the product of police threats or promises. Wilson v. State, 936 So.2d 357, 361 (¶8) (Miss. 2006). "A confession is voluntary when, taking into consideration the totality of the circumstances, the statement is the product of the accused's free and rational choice." Id. at 361-362. The burden is on the State to prove the voluntariness of the confession. Id.

Deputy Keel testified that Smith was read his *Miranda* rights and signed a waiver of rights form before giving both his August 12 and August 17 statements. T. 115, T. 125. Deputy Keel also testified that Smith was not threatened, abused, or promised anything in exchange for his confessions. T. 116, 125. Although Smith did not testify at the hearing, he stated in his taped interview that he was read his rights, he understood his rights, he signed a waiver, and he was not threatened or made any promises in exchange for his statements. Exhibit 9, pp. 1-2; Exhibit 10, p. 6; Exhibit 11, pp. 1-2. After the State made out a prima facie case of voluntariness in showing that no threats or promises had been made, the defense produced no evidence to the contrary.

Smith does not argue on appeal that he was coerced into giving the statements to Keel. Rather, he claims that his statements should have been suppressed because he did not understand his rights due to some vague mental frailty. Smith's only witness at the hearing was his mother, who testified that Smith was hyper in school and "kind of slow," he was placed in alternative school after repeating a grade in elementary school, he had been on Ritalin, and he started a GED program but never completed it. T. 164-169.

Even in cases which involve mentally retarded defendants, our reviewing courts have held that the defendant's mental capacity is only one factor for the trial court to consider in its totality of the circumstances inquiry as to whether the statement was voluntarily given. **McGowan**, 706 So. 2d at 235 (¶12). In ruling that Smith's confession was admissible, the trial court made the following findings.

The Court notes and finds that the defendant has pled guilty to other charges, which indicates that he understands the system, and in those colloquies and pleas, he would have sworn that he could, among other things, read and write.

There is no evidence before the Court that anything occurred in conversations between the taping, of any kind of illegal nature or violations of the defendant's constitutional rights. There is no evidence before the Court that the defendant possesses low IQ or a learning disability, or anything of that nature, which woud cause him not to understand his rights and what he is engaged in. There is no evidence of coercion, intimidation or promises; no rebuttal whatsoever to Officer Keel's testimony; so the Court overrules the motion and finds that all statements are freely and voluntarily given after having been advised of his **Miranda** rights, and all statements were admissible.

T. 184. The trial court's decision must not be disturbed as it is not manifestly erroneous or against the weight of the evidence.

Regarding Smith's claim that he was denied counsel, he never invoked his right to counsel. "The right to have an attorney present must be 'specifically invoked." Mooney v. State, 951 So.2d 627, 629 (¶9)(Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting Holland v. State, 587 So.2d 848, 856 (Miss. 1991)). Because Smith never invoked his right to counsel, his argument that his statements were involuntary because he did not waive his right to counsel must fail.

Smith's claim that the alleged delay in his initial appearance caused him to involuntarily confess is also meritless. Smith claims that he was held in police custody for six days before his August 18 initial appearance, in violation of URCCCP 6.03, which led to his giving involuntary statements. However, Smith was being held on August 12-18 on three outstanding bench warrants

for charges wholly unrelated to Joanna's murder. T. 161, C.P. 100-02. During that time, Smith gave voluntary statements to Keel during the course of his investigation. Officer Keel did not execute an affidavit for the murder charge until August 18. T. 161. In other words, Smith was not under arrest for Joanna's murder until August 18. Smith's initial appearance occurred on the same day. T. 159. Accordingly, his initial appearance was held well within the forty-eight hour time frame.

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court properly found that Smith's statements were voluntarily given and admissible.

II. SMITH WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

The following time-line is relevant to Smith's speedy trial claim:

11/1/04	Arraignment - Smith is represented by public defender for purposes of arraignment only. Smith indicates that his mother is hiring a private attorney for trial. Court orders defendant to report back on 12/1/05 to inform whether he has obtained private attorney. (T. 7-10; C.P. 7)
12/1/04	Smith tells court he needs more time to hire private attorney. Court gives him until 1/24/05 to obtain private attorney. (T. 11)
1/24/05	Smith indicates that he cannot afford representation. Court appoints Sidney Barnett and David Futch to represent Smith. (T. 13, C.P. 9)
1/24/05	Smith moves for first continuance due to recent appointment of attorneys. (C.P. 10,11)
1/31/05	Order granting continuance and setting trial for 4/18/05. (C.P. 12)
3/24/05	Futch moves to withdraw as counsel due to conflict. (T. 14)
3/29/05	Order allowing Futch to withdraw. (C.P. 18)
4/6/05	Order appointing Daphne Pattison as defense co-counsel. (C.P. 19)
4/15/05	Barnett moves for second continuance to give newly appt. co-counsel time to prepare for trial. (C.P. 20)
4/19/05	Order granting continuance and setting trial for 8/1/05. (T. 16, C.P. 21)

4/27/05	Smith demands speedy trial. (C.P. 24)
7/15/05 -	Smith moves for third continuance citing following reasons - waiting on Smith's school and mental records; tropical storm Cindy and Hurricane Dennis caused office closing resulting in preparation delays; defense counsel's involvement in another murder trial. (C.P. 55-58).
7/19/05	Order granting Smith's motion for continuance and setting trial for 10/24/05. (C.P. 31).
10/28/05	Order granting Smith's fourth motion for continuance due to Pattison's unavailability due to Hurricane Katrina. Trial set for 1/17/06. (C.P. 92)
12/6/05	Order granting Smith's fifth motion for continuance due to Pattison relocation to Houston after her office was destroyed by Hurricane Katrina. Chris Dobbins appointed as co-counsel. (C.P. 107, T.17)
1/17/06	Smith's sixth motion for continuance to allow Dobbins time to prepare. (T. 18)
1/17/06	Order granting Smith's motion for continuance and setting trial for 5/1/06. (C.P. 116)
2/2/2006	Order appointing Ross Simons to replace Barnett after Barnett's relocation due to Hurricane Katrina. (C.P. 129)
4/18/06	Smith's seventh motion for continuance to allow more preparation time for defense expert witness. (C.P. 178)
5/1/06	Order granting Smith's motion for continuance. Court also notes death in defense counsel's immediate family. Trial set for 6/26/06. (C.P. 180, T. 57)

The Statutory Right

Mississippi Code Annotated § 99-17-1 provides, "Unless good cause be shown, and a continuance duly granted by the court, all offenses for which indictments are presented to the court shall be tried no later than two hundred seventy (270) days after the accused has been arraigned." Miss.Code Ann. § 99-17-1. The statutory speedy trial right runs from the date of arraignment.

Manix v. State, 895 So.2d 167, 174 (¶8) (Miss. 2005). "The first step to determine if there is compliance with the 270-day rule is to calculate the total number of days between arraignment and

the actual trial." Id. at (¶9). Smith was tried on June 26, 2006, which was 602 days after his November 1, 2004 arraignment. However, the inquiry does not end here.

[T]he second step in calculating compliance with the 270-rule is to consider each delay separately, because only those delays attributable to the State count toward the 270 days. Any delay as a result of action by the State that is not supported by good cause will cause that time to be counted against the State. Yet a delay caused by the actions of the defendant, such as a continuance, will toll the running of the time period for that length of time, and correspondingly this time is subtracted from the total amount of the delay.

Id. Defense counsel moved for and was granted six continuances, pushing the original trial date from January 24, 2005 to April 18 to August 1 to October 24 to January 17, 2006 to May 1 to June 26. C.P. 10-12, 20-21, 31, 55-58, 92, 107, 116, 178-180; T. 7-13, 16-18, 57. The trial court found good cause for granting the defendant's motions for continuance, and the reasons for each order granting continuance is set out in the above time-line.

The defendant's seven consecutive continuances tolled the time from January 24, 2005 until June 26, 2006, or 518 of the 604 days between arraignment and trial. Accordingly, Smith's statutory right to a speedy trial was not violated.

The Constitutional Right

This honorable Court recently stated,

A determination of whether an accused has been afforded a speedy trial within the parameters set forth in Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-17-1 requires a stricter analysis than what is constitutionally required. Thus, it follows that if the time period that an accused has had to wait before going to trial is not violative of the mandate of Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-17-1, then a state constitutional violation has not occurred either.

Shumaker v. State, 956 So.2d 1078, 1082 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). As the State has shown that Smith's statutory right to a speedy trial was not violated, in accordance with **Shumaker**, neither was his constitutional right to a speedy trial violated. Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution, the

State presents the following brief analysis regarding Smith's claim.

The constitutional right to a speedy trial attaches at arrest. cite. The following factors are employed to determine whether the right has been violated/complied with: the length of delay, the reasons for the delay, whether the defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial, and whether the defense suffered any prejudice from the delay. cite.

Length of delay

A delay of eight months or more is presumptively prejudicial. **Brunson v. State**, 944 So.2d 922, 926 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing **Spencer v. State**, 592 So.2d 1382, 1387 (Miss. 1991)). Only when such a delay has occurred must the court consider the remaining factors. **Id**. Because Smith was arrested for Joanna's murder on August 18, 2004 and tried 678 days later, the remaining factor must be considered.

Reasons for delay

As stated above, all delay that occurred was strictly due to Smith's seven motions for continuance which were granted by the trial court. Accordingly, this factor necessarily weighs against the defendant.

Assertion of right

Smith made a demand for a speedy trial on April 27, 2005. C.P. 24.

Prejudice

Smith makes no serious allegation of prejudice caused by the delay. Rather, he simply references some "cumulative anxiety" caused by his confinement. Appellant's brief at 39. Our reviewing courts have found loss of evidence, death of a witness, and stale investigations to constitute prejudice for purposes of the speedy trial analysis. **Manix**, 895 So.2d at 177. Anxiety has simply not made the list. "In the absence of prejudice, we cannot find that [the Appellant's]

constitutional right to a speedy trial was violated." Brunson, 944 So.2d at 926 (¶17) (citing State v. Magnusen, 646 So.2d 1275, 1285 (Miss. 1994)).

For the foregoing reasons, Smith's constitutional speedy trial claim also fails.

III. THE TRIAL COURT WAS WELL WITHIN ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING SMITH'S MOTION FOR A SEQUESTERED VOIR DIRE.

The decision to grant or deny a motion for a sequestered voir dire is left to the sound discretion of the trial court. **Speagle v. State**, 956 So.2d 237, 242 (¶14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). An appellant must show actual harm or prejudice before a reviewing court will disturb the trial court's decision to deny a sequestered voir dire. **Id**.

Smith requested a sequestered voir dire so that he could individually question veniremen about their beliefs regarding race and interracial relationships, simply because Smith was a black male and the victim, his then girlfriend, was a white female. The following exchange occurred during the hearing on the motion.

Defense:

I think peoples attitudes towards race and towards dating between the races, are important, and I think that whether we want to or not, we harbor some kind of concerns within our heart that we maybe wouldn't want to talk about in front of 40 other fellow members in the community.

The Court:

What is the difference in that and the fact that we ask jurors some of the most intimate personal questions about their lives and the lives of their families? I mean, we've had people who have come up privately and talked about the rape of their children, et cetera, and they do that privately, and sometimes they don't, God bless them. Sometimes they do it in front of everybody, and hang their pain out for everybody to see. Why do you think that needs a private venue?

Defense:

It just seems to me to be a more sensitive issue, your Honor.

The Court:

Do you think that race is more sensitive than sex? Do you think that

race is more sensitive than rape?

Defense:

Well, this case has both of those. It doesn't have rape.

The Court:

It doesn't have rape.

Defense:

No. First you said sex. It has both of those, and they're both sensitive

issues.

The Court:

What can you show me that says people will be more truthful

privately than in a group?

Defense:

I don't know that I can, your Honor. I'm not a sociologist, and I don't have studies like that with me, but it just seems to me that people are more willing to give their opinions in a more intimate

forum than in front of a forum in front of 60 or 70 people.

The Court:

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